
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

DANIEL S. PENNACHIETTI,

Plaintiff,

v., No. 

CRAIG MANSFIELD, PLAINTIFF DEMANDS A 
TRIAL BY JURY

Defendant.

Complaint

The  defendant  in  this  case  is  a  conspirator  in  a  usury  scam  that

victimized  Mr.  Pennachietti  with  an  auto  title  loan  for  $5,050  at  a  triple  digit

interest rate.  Mr. Pennacheitte paid over $10,000 on the loan and had his vehicle

repossessed.   Mr.  Pennachietti  files this complaint for violation of the Racketeer

Influenced  and  Corrupt  Organizations  Act  (“RICO”),  18  U.S.C.  §  1962(c),  the

Pennsylvania Loan Interest and Protection Law (“LIPL”), 41 P.S. § 201 et seq., and

avers:

7. The plaintiff is Daniel S. Pennachietti, a citizen of Pennsylvania

residing at 4516 E. Stiles St., Philadelphia, PA 18134.  

8. Craig  Mansfield  is  an  individual  believed  to  be  a  citizen  of

Wisconsin residing at 6350 Timber Trail Lane, Land O' Lakes, Wisconsin 54540, and

is named in his personal capacity. 

9. Mr. Mansfield was a conspirator with others including William

S. McKibbin, III, Kevin L. Cronin, and Mark Edward Weiner.  Together with these
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individuals,  Mr. Mansfield conspired to make or participate in making auto title

loans on-line to consumers across the United States including the Commonwealth of

Pennsylvania.  (The whereabouts of Mr. McKibbin, Mr. Cronin, and Mr. Weiner are

unknown.)

10. Mr.  Mansfield  together  with  his  co-conspirators  operated  or

participated  in  the  operation  of  many  companies,  including  but  not  limited  to

Sovereign Lending Solutions, LLC (“Sovereign”), Auto Loans, LLC, Car Loans, LLC,

Liquidation, LLC, Loan Servicing Solutions, LLC, Management Solutions, LLC, and

RS Financial Management, LLC, among others.  All of these companies functioned

as  corporate  vehicles  through  which  the conspirators  operated  a  single  on-going

usurious  lending  scheme.   These  companies  are  referred  to  collectively  as  “the

Lending Enterprise.”  

11. The  Lending  Enterprise  made  many  of  its  loans  through  a

website operated under the trade name Title loan America.  Screen shots of that

website are attached as Exhibit P-1.  

12. Mr.  Mansfield  was  formally  employed  as  a  co-manager  of

Sovereign.   In  that  capacity,  he  oversaw day-to-day  operations  of  the  company,

including  but  not  limited  to,  making,  servicing,  and  collecting  loans,  and  the

assignment  of  loans  between  the  various  corporate  entities  that  comprised  the

Lending Enterprise.     

13. Attached as Exhibit P-2, is an affidavit from Mr. Mansfield in

which he described his role at Sovereign in connection with another borrower, filed

of record with the court in Ghost v. Victory Recovery Services, Inc., 14-cv-00215-HB
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(E.D. Pa.).  All documents Mr. Mansfield filed in the Ghost case are incorporated by

reference.

14. On or about June 24, 2015, the Lending Enterprise was ordered

to cease and desist from entering into loans with citizens of Pennsylvania by the

Pennsylvania Department of Banking.  Exhibit P-3.  The Lending Enterprise was

ordered to repay usurious interest to Pennsylvania borrowers but never did so.  The

Lending Enterprise has never repaid usurious interest to Mr. Pennachietti.  

Background

15. Mr.  Pennachietti  was  the  owner  of  a  2008  Ford  Expedition

Limited 4 Door Sports Utility vehicle (the “Vehicle”).  

16. The Vehicle was titled, registered and kept in Pennsylvania.  

17. Mr. Pennachietti used the Vehicle for personal transportation for

himself and his family.  

18. In  July  2013,  Mr.  Pennachietti  applied  for  a  loan  from  the

lending Enterprise through the Title Loan America website.  Exhibit P-1. 

19. On  or  about  July  9,  2013,  the  Lending  Enterprise  gave  Mr.

Pennachietti a loan for $5,050, for personal, family and household purposes.  Exhibit

P-4.

20. Mr. Pennachietti  took out the loan over  the internet from his

computer located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.  

21. The loan was supposedly memorialized by a written contract, but

the  Lending  Enterprise  did  not  provide  Mr.  Pennachietti  with  a  copy,  and  Mr.
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Pennachietti  does not  recall  seeing or accepting any particular set  of  terms and

conditions when he took out the loan.

22. Mr. Pennachietti denies seeing or agreeing to any particular rate

of interest. 

23. Attached  hereto  is  a  sample  loan  agreement  the  Lending

Enterprise  produced  for  another  borrower  showing  an  interest  rate  at  247.65%

A.P.R.  Exhibit P-5.

24. Similar  to  the  loan  in  Exhibit  P-5,  the  Lending  Enterprise

scheduled Mr. Pennachietti to repay his loan in a series of 11 payments of interest

followed by a 12th and final balloon payment of principal and interest.  

25. Over  the  course  of  the  next  year,  Mr.  Pennachietti  made

payments to the Lending Enterprise totaling $6,301.68.  Exhibit P-4 at 1 & 2.

26. Mr. Pennachietti was late making the final balloon payment and

at that point the Lending Enterprise repossessed Mr. Pennachietti’s vehicle.  

27. The Lending Enterprise  demanded payment  of  $7,000 for  the

return of the vehicle.  Exhibit P-4 at 4.  Mr. Pennachietti made the payments in two

installments of $4,000 in August, 2014, and $3,015 in October 2014.  Exhibit P-4 at

4-7.  

28. In total, Mr. Pennachietti paid over $13,000 on a $5,000 loan in

14 months and had his vehicle repossessed.  

29. Mr.  Mansfield  controlled  Sovereign  and  directed  Sovereign  to

make secured loans to citizens of Pennsylvania at rates of interest many times in

excess of Pennsylvania's usury law.

4

Case 2:17-cv-02582-GJP   Document 1   Filed 06/08/17   Page 4 of 10



30. Following the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s  decision in  Cash

America  Net  v.  Commonwealth  of  Pennsylvania,  607  Pa.  432,  8  A.3d  282,  295

(2010),  Mr.  Mansfield  was  on  notice  that  making  high  interest  loans  on-line  to

Pennsylvania  borrowers  violated  the  Commonwealth’s  usury  laws,  but  Mr.

Mansfield and his co-conspirators continued to direct Sovereign to make such loans

and continued to oversee the collection and assignment of loans to other entities

participating in the Lending Enterprise.  

31. Mr.  Mansfield  specifically  decided  and  directed  the  Lending

Enterprise  to  record  liens  on  vehicles  with  the  Pennsylvania  Department  of

Transportation.

32. Mr.  Mansfield  specifically  decided  and  directed  for  Lending

Enterprise  to  repossess  vehicles  within  the  territorial  boundaries  of  the

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  

33. As a direct and proximate result of Mr. Mansfield’s actions and

decisions, the Lending Enterprise entered into the present loan transaction with Mr.

Pennachietti at a usurious rate of interest, recorded a lien with the Pennsylvania

Department  of  Transportation,  collected  funds  from  Mr.  Pennachietti,  and

repossessed the Vehicle to coerce payment of illegal interest. 

Count I

34. This count is against Mr. Mansfield for violation of the Racketeer

Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act  (“RICO”),  18 U.S.C.  § 1962(c),  for  the

collection of unlawful  debt.   All  of the preceding paragraphs are incorporated by

reference.
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35.  Mr. Mansfield is a person within the meaning of section 1962(c).

36.  Each  entity  in  the  Lending  Enterprise  is  a  limited  liability

company which qualifies each entity an enterprise within the meaning of section

1962(c).  Cedric Kushner Promotions, LTD., v.  Don King, 533 U.S. 158 (2001). 

37. Sovereign is an enterprise within the meaning of section 1962(c).

38. The combination of  Sovereign with one  or  more other  limited

liability companies controlled by Mr. Mansfield and his co-conspirators constitute an

association-in-fact enterprise within the meaning of section 1962(c).

39.  Mr. Mansfield is employed by or associated with the Lending

Enterprise; specifically, he was an employee of Sovereign, and Sovereign itself was

an enterprise as well as a participant in the Lending Enterprise with other limited

liability companies controlled by Mr. Mansfield and his co-conspirators.  

40. The Lending Enterprise is engaged in interstate commerce.  The

Lending Enterprise made loans across  state lines throughout  the United States.

Sovereign was incorporated in Michigan but made loans to citizens of many other

states,  including  Pennsylvania,  such  as  Mr.  Pennachietti.   Employees  of  other

companies  participating  in  the  Lending  Enterprise  collected  loans  made  by

Sovereign from offices located in Florida and other states. 

41. Mr. Mansfield conducted the affairs of the Lending Enterprise or

participated  in  the  affairs  of  the  Lending  Enterprise  through  the  collection  of

unlawful debt in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).  

42. Specifically, Mr. Mansfield directed Sovereign to collect unlawful

debt from borrowers who were citizens of Pennsylvania by recording liens on their
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vehicles with the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation, demanding payment

of  usurious  interest,  and  ordering  the  repossession  of  vehicles  from  within

Pennsylvania when the usurious interest was unpaid.  

43. Mr.  Mansfield  directed  Sovereign  or  other  companies

participating  in  the  Lending  Enterprise  to  collect  unlawful  debt  from  Mr.

Pennachietti by billing him for sums that included usurious interest, accepting his

payments, and applying the payments to usurious interest.    

44. Mr. Mansfield also assigned loans originated by Sovereign for

collection  by  other  companies  participating  in  the  Lending  Enterprise.   Mr.

Pennachietti’s loan is believed to have been assigned from Sovereign to Management

Solutions, LLC and then to Car Loans, LLC.  

45. The Lending Enterprise's  loan to Mr.  Pennachietti  constituted

unlawful debt within the meaning of section 1962(c) as the term is defined in section

1961(6).  Specifically, (a) almost all of the interest the Lending Enterprise collected

was  unenforceable  under  the  usury  laws  of  Pennsylvania,  (b)  the  Lending

Enterprise was in the business making loans to citizens of Pennsylvania at usurious

rates  and (c)  the Lending Enterprise charged interest  far  in  excess  of  twice the

legally enforceable rate in Pennsylvania.      

46. Mr. Pennachietti suffered an injury as a result of the conduct of

Mr. Mansfield.  Specifically, Mr. Pennachietti paid more than double the amount he

borrowed and had his car repossessed.  

 WHEREFORE, Mr. Pennachietti requests relief against Mr. Mansfield

in his personal capacity as follows:
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(a). A declaration  that  Mr.  Mansfield  is  civilly  liable  is  for

violating the RICO statute;

(b). An  award  of  damages  equivalent  to  three  times  Mr.

Pennachietti's  actual  losses  including but  not  limited to  compensation  for  funds

wrongfully applied to usurious interest;

(c). An award of attorney's fees and costs; and

(d). Any other relief that is just and appropriate.

Count II

47. This count is against Mr. Mansfield for participation in a RICO

conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).  All of the preceding paragraphs are

incorporated by reference.

48. Mr. Mansfield conspired with Mr.  McKibbin,  Mr.  Cronin,  and

Mr.  Weiner  to  operate  an  enterprise  through  the  collection  of  unlawful  debt  in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).  Specifically, Mr. Mansfield was in agreement with

the other individuals that one or more of the corporate entities participating in the

Lending Enterprise would collect unlawful debt from borrowers in Pennsylvania and

other states including from Mr. Pennachietti.  

49. Pursuant  to  the  conspiracy,  Mr.  Mansfield  assigned  loan

agreements originated by Sovereign to other companies that were participating in

the Lending Enterprise and controlled by Mr. Mansfield’s co-conspirators.  

50. Mr. Pennachietti suffered an injury as a result of the conduct of

Mr. Mansfield.  Specifically, Mr. Pennachietti paid more than double the amount he

borrowed and had his car repossessed.  
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 WHEREFORE, Mr. Pennachietti requests relief against Mr. Mansfield

in his personal capacity as follows:

(a). A declaration  that  Mr.  Mansfield  is  civilly  liable  is  for

violating the RICO statute;

(b). An  award  of  damages  equivalent  to  three  times  Mr.

Pennachietti's  actual  losses  including but  not  limited to  compensation  for  funds

wrongfully applied to usurious interest;

(c). An award of attorney's fees and costs; and

(d). Any other relief that is just and appropriate.

Count III

51. This count is against Mr. Mansfield for usury under the LIPL, 41

P.S. § 201 et seq.  All of the preceding paragraphs are incorporated by reference.

52. Mr.  Mansfield  is  liable  under  41 P.S.  §§  502,  503,  & 504 for

collecting usurious interest from Mr. Pennachietti.  

53. Mr. Mansfield is liable as a result of his personal participation in

the Lending Enterprise.  

 WHEREFORE, Mr. Pennachietti requests relief against Mr. Mansfield

in his personal capacity as follows:

(a). A declaration  that  Mr.  Mansfield  is  civilly  liable  is  for

violating the LIPL;

(b). An  award  of  damages  equivalent  to  three  times  Mr.

Pennachietti's  actual  losses  including but  not  limited to  compensation  for  funds

wrongfully applied to usurious interest;
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(c). An award of attorney's fees and costs; and

(d). Any other relief that is just and appropriate.

Respectfully submitted, 

                                                            
Robert F. Salvin (RFS2522)
Two Bala Plaza, Suite 300
Bala Cynwyd, PA  19004
215-300-2388
215-271-2820 (fax)
robert.salvin@outlook.com
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